IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 93,839

PETER VENTURA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARK S. GRUBER
ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE
FLORIDA BAR NO: 0330541

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FL 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ABOUT REFERENCES

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Peter Ventura was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death for his alleged role in the contract murder of a marina employee. This Court set out a factual statement in its opinion on direct appeal in Ventura v. State, 560 So.2d 217, cert. den. 498 U.S. 951, 111 S. Ct. 372, 112 L. Ed. 334 (1990). In summary, the state's evidence at trial reflected that codefendant Jerry Wright took out an employee's insurance policy (called a "key man" policy) on Robert Clemente, who was one of his employees, and later approached one Jack McDonald to find someone to kill Clemente in order to collect the insurance proceeds. McDonald, who was the state's key witness, testified at trial that he arranged for Ventura to carry out the murder. McDonald also testified at Wright's trial. Wright, who was tried about two years after Ventura, was convicted and received a life sentence. Excerpts of the Wright trial were judicially noticed at the evidentiary hearing in this case, (R. 336, 337), and have been made a part of the record on this appeal.

Ventura filed a motion for post conviction relief. The trial court's summary denial of that first motion was reversed in *State v. Ventura*, (Fla. 1996) 673 So.2d 479. After obtaining pertinent records through Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, Ventura filed an amended rule 3.850 motion on August 16, 1996. (R. 1 through 218).

This Court had ordered the state to file a response within twenty days after the 3.850 motion was filed. *Ventura*, 673 So.2d

479, at 482. This was not done. Instead, the trial court conducted a hearing on February 6, 1997, at which time it then ordered the state to file a response within twenty days. Ventura filed pro se motions objecting to this enlargement of time on February 10, 1997 (R. 220), and again on January 21, 1998, (R. 290). These motions were adopted by counsel (R. Supp. 7) and denied. (Id. and R. 301).

The rule 3.850 motion then before the trial court raised fifteen claims for relief. Ten of them were summarily denied after a Huff hearing by an order dated April 3, 1998. Claim one, relating to public records requests, was deemed moot. Claims seven through fourteen were summarily denied as being procedurally barred because they ". . . could have and should have been raised on direct appeal." The fifteenth claim alleging cumulative error, was found to be without merit and subject to summary dismissal because many of the errors described in this claim had been found to be procedurally barred. (R.303).

The remaining claims (two through six) were denied after an evidentiary hearing by an order dated July 28, 1998 (R. 304). Claim IV specifically alleged Brady¹ violations. Generally, the court found that the defendant had not met the second prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (U.S. 1984):

This Court specifically finds that the evidence of guilt of the defendant, Peter Ventura, was so

 $^{^{1}}Brady\ v.\ Maryland,\ 373\ U.S.\ 83,\ 83\ S.Ct.\ 1194,\ 10\ L.Ed.\ 215\ (1963).$

overwhelming that even if there was a deficient performance by the attorney or there was newly discovered evidence, in any result there is no reasonable probability that the results would have been different had the trial counsel for the defendant performed better or if any newly discovered evidence was revealed to the jury. (R. 306).

In its order, the trial court specifically dealt with claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in the context of jury selection and penalty phase mitigation. At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel had brought out evidence in the form of letters and testimony that the prosecutor had brokered a deal between Jack McDonald and federal authorities in exchange for McDonald's testimony, and then concealed it from the trial court. (See infra). The lower court did not specifically address this evidence, commenting that, "The Court acknowledges that it has specifically addressed only a few of the numerous issues raised by the defendant in his claims two through five, but the other issues are not worthy of any specific discussion." Id. (R. 308). The orders denying postconviction relief are the subject of this appeal.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Physical evidence from the crime scene did not point to

Ventura or to anyone else in particular. The victim's body was

found in a truck parked near a construction site by one of the

site workers late in the afternoon on April 15, 1981. (Dir. 307
9). From the testimony of this witness and that of several

officers who testified at either the Wright or the Ventura trials

it is apparent that the body was discovered and that the engine

compartment of the truck was still warm between 5:00 and 6:00 p.m.. (Dir. 313, 315; R. Supp.9, 10). The police found some footprints leading away from the truck which eventually disappeared onto hard road. (Dir. 331). Two days later, the police found some spent cartridges about five hundred yards from where the truck had been found. (Dir. 328). The cartridges were never matched to any particular firearm. No one ever claimed to have witnessed the killing other than Jack McDonald, and there were no fingerprints, blood typing, fiber evidence or the like pointing to any particular suspect.

The state's key witness at trial was Jack McDonald. McDonald's testimony was described in some detail by this Court in its opinion in the direct appeal. According to McDonald, the scheme to kill the victim and collect the proceeds from the key man life insurance policy had its origins in Jerry Wright's financial problems. McDonald said that Wright owed him seventeen thousand dollars, his businesses were bad and that he had tax problems. (Dir. 631). McDonald testified at both trials that Ventura set up the meeting with the victim at the Barnett bank, under the pretext of wanting to buy a boat. McDonald never testified to whether or not Ventura used a false name when he set up the meeting with the victim. When asked that question during the Wright trial he responded only that he had left the details of the plot to Ventura. (R. Supp. 60, 63). On the other hand, he also testified that he worked out the specific plans for the killing with Ventura the day before it happened. (Dir. 657).

McDonald testified that the killing took place around noon or early afternoon. He described getting to the bank where Ventura was to meet Clemente "very late morning, early afternoon," (Dir. 638 et seq.).

Tina Clemente, the victim's widow, was not called by either side in the Ventura trial. She was called as a defense witness in the Wright trial. She testified that the individual who called the victim on the fifteenth and requested a meeting at the Barnett bank to see about buying a boat identified himself as "Alex Martin."

. . .Bobby had a message that he was supposed to meet a man named Alex Martin and this man wanted to buy a boat from him and someone had referred this man to Bobby but they never told him who referred him, or anything like that, and it kind of drove Bobby crazy because it was like I don't know this guy and who would have referred him to me or whatever.

Plans were made for him to meet this man behind Barnett Bank and I told him it was stupid . . . He was very nervous that night. We stayed up until maybe one, 1:30 in the morning arguing about it. (R. Supp. 82,3).

On the other hand, she also testified that her husband had known Ventura, evidently guite well:

- Q. And have you ever met an individual by the name of Peter Ventura?
- A. I met an individual named Pete Ventura, not Peter, Bobby didn't introduce him as Peter.
- Q. Who introduced him?
- A. Bobby did.
- Q. And where was that?
- A. Madison Avenue store.
- Q. And was Mr. Wright present for this introduction?

- A. No. Did you ever see Mr. Ventura again?
- A. I saw him twice. The first time when Bobby introduced me to him, and then he came back to the store maybe a couple of weeks or a month later.

And all he said was hello, and then he left with Bobby. (R. Supp. 79).

It is not completely clear who actually heard the message in which the caller setting up the meet identified himself as Alex "Martin," or how many such messages there actually were. At one point Wright's counsel asked Tina Clemente a question about "Bob getting any messages," and it appears that she was going to describe a message received at the Crow's Bluff Marina by one of the people working there ("Cindy or Deedee"). The court sustained a hearsay objection at that point. (R. Supp. 82). Deedee Jorgensen was deposed by Ventura's counsel but never called as a witness. She was a co-owner of the marina and said that she took the message from the person claiming to be "Alex Martin." She also said there had been at least two such calls. (Deposition of Deedee Jorgensen). On the other hand, Tina Clemente referred to the "Alex Martin" message described above in response to a question about what happened when she and the victim returned home that day. (R. Supp. 82, 3). Tina Clemente was not among the seventy witnesses listed by the state in its answer to the defendant's demand for disclosure. (Dir 926,7).

Insurance agent Saul Minkoff testified that Jerry Wright had

told him to cancel the insurance policy on Robert Clemente about three months before Clemente was killed. (R. Supp. 72). Minkoff

further testified that he did not cancel the policy mainly because he did not want to lose his commission, and that he never got around to telling Jerry Wright that he had not canceled the policy. Id. In fact, on cross examination Minkoff stated: "As far as he was concerned, I canceled it. " (R. Supp. 73). He said that the premium payments for the policy had been made automatically through a "check-o-matic" program. Premium payment notices were not sent to Jerry Wright. (R. Supp. 71). According to Attorney Withers the transaction which included the insurance policy which purportedly provided the motive for the murder was part of a routine sweat equity deal in which Clemente became a 49% owner and primary manager of a tire store, with an option to buy the other 51%. Clemente was required to put no money down to purchase the 49% holdings. As a result, the only way Wright could protect his investment was to buy a life insurance policy on Clemente. (R. Supp. 74 - 76) According to attorney Withers the misnamed "key man" insurance policy is and was a routine business practice. (R. Supp. 76).

Additionally, accountant Yordon testified that Wright's financial situation was hardly desperate. Wright's tire company had assets of around three hundred and fifty thousand dollars at the end of 1979. (R. Supp. 70) Daytona Beach resident Toni Gustafson testified that she borrowed \$40,000 from Jerry Wright in 1981, and again agreed to pay it back at the rate of \$1,800 per month for approximately three years (R. Supp. 158).

As noted in this Court's opinion, the state provided

evidence that Ventura was in Florida on the dates in question through some business receipts. On the other hand, as Tina Clemente indicated, Ventura knew her husband, in fact her husband had introduced him to her by name, and she, at least had seen Ventura twice, so it was not especially unusual for Ventura to be in the area.

The state called a number of witnesses at Ventura's trial to establish that he had made damaging admissions. None of them claimed to be present or in any way actively involved in the killing, none of the described admissions were specific, and each witness was impeached. Joseph Pike and Reginald Barrett were two acquaintances of Ventura and McDonald who had provided information leading to their arrest. Both were convicted felons who had participated in the bank scam that had been masterminded by McDonald. Joseph Pike claimed that Ventura spoke with him on May 6, 1981 and admitted that he had been involved in a homicide along with McDonald. According to Pike, Ventura provided a number of details about the homicide that were consistent with the version given by McDonald, including the mention of a key man insurance policy. He also said that "He [Ventura] never said that he directly committed it . . . " (Dir. 506), and " . . . he had never said anything about what he did in it." (Dir. 512). Pike testified about an interview he gave to Inspector Berger and a Captain Carroll on May 18, 1981 as follows:

The question was: When he said that he had handled this - this is from Carroll - when he said he had handled the extermination, did you get the impression from what he said that he was involved in it perhaps more than

McDonald was?

And my answer was: Just because of my prior knowledge of Pete and the way he actually says things, I got a strong feeling that it may be McDonald himself. (R. 508).

Pike was a cooperating witness and co-conspirator in the bank fraud scheme masterminded by McDonald. (See Dir. 483). According to Pike, the scam had involved as many as twenty-five people. (Dir. 518). Pike eventually pled to three felony counts in connection with the scam, but was sentenced to only five years probation and thirty days incarceration. (Dir. 510). He said that he had only known a very few of the people involved and that his part in it was very small. (Dir. 519). He described McDonald as being "... one of the key people ..." in the scam. Id.

Reginald Barrett was called by the state. He said that

Ventura never told him that he had been involved in a homicide.

(Dir. 524) According to Barrett, Ventura asked him to furnish a gun because a " . . . person from Atlanta wanted to have a pistol, or a gun . . . " (R.525), but Barrett also said that in the twenty years he had known Ventura he had never known him to carry a gun because " . . . it was not his style." (542, 543).

Barrett said that on two occasions Ventura had used him as a "refuge" because he (Ventura) apprehended danger from McDonald. (R.545).

When Ventura was first arrested, he was able to post bond, after which he absconded. He was rearrested in Austin, Texas in June 1986 because a 16 year old boy named Timothy Arview walked into police headquarters and said that he believed a man named

Juan Contras/aka Peter Ventura was wanted out of Chicago for homicide (Dir. 686). According to the officer who met with Arview, Sgt. Gonzales, the boy did not tell him that Ventura admitted to committing a homicide, but only that Ventura admitted to being wanted for a homicide.

Arview gave a taped statement to Detective Hudson, a transcript of which was introduced at the evidentiary hearing as state's exhibit #2. Arview's statement on the transcript is at times almost incoherent, but he does say, referring to Ventura: "But then he went down there and met the guy and the night of the races was when he shot him." Later on in the transcript Arview tied the "races" to the Daytona area, so this is the only alleged admission by Ventura contained in the transcript that could have anything to do with this case. These words are described as part of a rambling account of past transgressions sparked when Arview slapped Ventura "u[p]side the head" while the two were wrestling. Arview did say, as he said at trial, that his motivation in going to the police was righteous; i.e., "When you kill somebody [you're] supposed to pay for it." On the other hand, when he was asked about the time that elapsed between the conversation and when he went to the police, the following exchange ensued:

Hudson: When did this conversation take place prior to when you went to the police, how long ago?

Arview: When was it that I got into trouble?

Arview's mother: Which one?

Arview: The one with (inaudible).

Arview: . . . four . . . is that February or March?

Hudson: And why did you wait for a few months to (inaudible) or what?

Arview: I didn't know what to do, ya know, to decide what to do.

Hudson: Have you ever seen a wanted poster in the past six months?

Arview: No. . . another reason I did it because he owed me money from work . . . he didn't pay me . . . I figured he didn't pay me my money, ya know . . . I'll get my money from the reward.

Hudson returned the reward money later in the interview:

Hudson: . . . I don't know, I guess I thin[k] Sgt. Gonzales told you or maybe your mother did. I do not remember, I don't remember if there is a reward or how much there is. It won't be through the federal government.

Arview: Alright.

Hudson: But I think the victim's father at one time did. I will check that with him and get back with him and let you know for sure through your mother. If there is one and he is convicted, which I don't think there be too much problem in that, you're certainly entitled to it. Because um . . .

Arview: What about the other reward . . .

At the trial of this case, the prosecutor asked Jack McDonald the following question on direct examination and received the following answer:

- Q. Any promises been made to you concerning your testimony here?
 - A. None whatsoever. (R. 649).

This denial was reinforced during the trial. During defense counsel's cross examination of Postal Inspector Ed Berger, prior to McDonald's taking the stand, the following exchange took place:

Q. Now, with regard to Mr. McDonald coming to

you to ask you for leniency or special consideration in his prosecution --

MR. STARK: Your Honor, I don't believe that's a fair characterization of his testimony. I don't think he ever said that McDonald came to him.

THE COURT: Let's hear the question and see.

MR. CASS: I'm merely responding to an answer that Inspector Berger gave, Your Honor, as to whether or not McDonald was looking for anything for the statement --

THE COURT: You can go ahead and ask the question.

MR. CASS: All right, sir.

BY MR. CASS:

Q. It was my impression that Mr. McDonald was not looking for anything in giving you that statement in 1983, and I thought you said: No, he said he was dying of cancer and he just wanted to clear the air?

A. Yes, sir. (Dir. 489).

After McDonald made the "none whatsoever" statement during direct examination, defense counsel did not cross examine him on the issue. On redirect, however, the following exchange took place:

[Prosecutor]: And what is your motivation for testifying here today?

A. Well, I'm nearing sixty years of age. This is probably, undoubtedly, the most horrendous thing I have ever been involved in, and I think it is about time we cleared the air and it might give Mr. and Mrs. Clemente a little peace of mind knowing exactly what happened.

* * *

[Defense counsel] You have just said that your motive for testifying is simply to clear the air, and bring the truth out; is that correct?

- A. And for no other reason?
- A. None. (Dir. 672, -3).

The timing of this exchange is worth noting. The prosecutor led off his direct examination of McDonald by having him admit to his prior felony convictions. This testimony was immediately followed by the news that McDonald had received an honorable discharge from the military. (Dir. 629). McDonald's testimony about "clearing the air" and giving the victim's widow "peace of mind" was elicited by the prosecutor on redirect examination – after defense counsel's cross examination and as a dramatic conclusion to McDonald's testimony.

The investigation that led to Ventura's arrest stemmed from an investigation into the bank scam being conducted Postal Inspector Ed Berger, who received information from a confidential informant about an April homicide in Volusia County implicating Ventura and McDonald. (Dir. 467 to 471). That information led to their arrest, however the police knew they could not make a case against either one unless they could get one to "flip" against the other. As Inspector Berger said, "It was our position that we could not successfully prosecute one without the other. That is why we were so careful in effecting the arrest within thirty minutes of each other in Chicago and Daytona." (Dir. 572). Berger interviewed McDonald while he was under arrest in this case and McDonald denied any involvement in the Clemente murder. (R. Supp. 65). While being cross examined about this interview during the Wright trial, McDonald agreed that he had said he was in Daytona and met with Ventura around the time of the murder but not because of anything connected to the Clemente killing. (R. Supp.

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