IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PETER VENTURA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 98,839

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

Finally, this Honorable Court has decreed that *Huff* hearings will be held in capital cases. *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993).

Henceforth the judge must allow the attorneys the opportunity to appear before the court and be heard on an initial 3.850 motion. This does not mean that the judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing in all death penalty postconviction cases. Instead, the hearing before the judge is for the purpose of determining whether an evidentiary hearing is required and to hear legal argument relating to the motion.

622 So. 2d at 983. The *Huff* hearing was appropriately held in this case. Ventura is entitled to no relief.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT IN SENTENCING HIM.

Ventura claims that in his amended 3.850 motion (claims VII and XI), he complained that the "sentencing judge relied upon Ventura's failure to present his version of the offense to find aggravating circumstances . . ." and added "that counsel was ineffective for failing to address these errors." (IB at 87). On appeal, however, he claims that "[a]t sentencing, Mr. Ventura reasserted his innocence" (IB at 87). He complains about the judge's "reaction" to his "declaration of innocence." (IB at 87). The State submits that Ventura's statements to the court do not assert innocence, although they are worded so as to imply such a claim. (See DAR 910-911).

The trial judge's complained-of comment is directed toward Ventura's implied claim of innocence not aggravation.²² There is nothing to suggest that the judge in any manner considered Ventura's statement, or his silence at any point, in aggravation. He has utterly failed to establish any basis in the record for this claim.

Moreover, since there was no consideration of Ventura's silence, or any statement he made, in aggravation, there was

²²The trial judge was not commenting on the effect of Ventura's failure to testify or explain his version of events. The same comment made about Ventura "[a]pparently you know what happened," was also made about Mr. McDonald who **did** testify. (DAR 912).

nothing for trial counsel to object to. Thus, counsel can hardly be deemed to have rendered deficient performance. Further, although it's not necessary to reach the second prong of the *Strickland* ineffective assistance analysis because the deficient performance prong is not met, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different had counsel made the objection or argument raised on appeal. The evidence of existence of both the pecuniary gain and cold, calculated, and premeditated murder aggravators was overwhelming, *see* DAR 1047-1049, and there is no reasonable possibility, much less probability, that any consideration of what Ventura said, or of any silence he held, would have affected the finding of these aggravators. Having met neither the performance, nor the prejudice, components of the *Strickland* standard, Ventura is entitled to no relief.

POINT VI

APPELLANT HAS SHOWN NO ERROR IN THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDING OF NO MITIGATION.

In this point, Ventura claims that the trial court erred in failing to find alleged mitigation which he claims was "set out in the record." (IB 89-90). It is axiomatic that a claim alleging that a trial judge failed to find such mitigation could, and should, have been raised on direct appeal. Ventura's failure to so raise them procedurally bars consideration of this issue in the instant proceeding. *Provenzano v. State*, 739 So. 2d 1150, 1154 (Fla. 1999)[mitigation issues "should have been argued on direct appeal"]; *White v. State*, 729 So. 2d 909, 911 n.4 (Fla. 1999).

Moreover, there was no reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence establishing the four nonstatutory mitigating circumstances Ventura urges. Ventura claims his daughter's testimony established that he "is a caring family person." (IB at 92). However, on cross, it was established that Ms. Vallejo's testimony regarded her father as she knew him some **ten years earlier**. (DAR 873-874). She had not seen him in many years and had rarely spoken to him by phone. (DAR 874).

The State submits that the trial judge was free to conclude that Ms. Vallejo's testimony did not establish that Ventura was a caring family person at the relevant time. Moreover, her testimony did not distinguish Ventura's fatherly character from that which is

xcii

normal. Cf. Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992) [Rejecting Mendyk's claim that mitigating evidence should have been presented,²³ this Court said: "Although an abusive childhood, a history of alcohol and drug abuse, and mental impairment can clearly constitute mitigating factors, in this case we do not find serious deprivations distinguishing this case from the norm of children from broken homes. Thus, Mendyk has not proven he was prejudiced " (citation omitted)]. Thus, there was no reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence that Ventura "is a caring family person." Moreover, the instant record shows that there is substantial evidence to the contrary. For example, Ventura deserted his wife and children, moved to a far distant State, changed his name, and never contacted, or attempted to contact, his wife and children or his brothers and sisters during the seven years prior to the penalty phase presentation. Neither did he send any financial support to his wife and children during that time, even though he was gainfully employed in Texas. Thus, it is clear that even were this issue back before the trial court, this alleged mitigator would not be found.

Neither is Ventura's appellate claim that the trial judge should have found that he "had a good employment history and

²³This included: "[T]hat his mother was beaten by an alcoholic father; that he spent most of his childhood in his bedroom, reading; that he was a loner and pushed himself to do his homework "perfectly"; and that he had a history of alcohol and drug use and was mentally impaired."

positive character traits" supported by a reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence. Mr. Zotas testified that he worked with Ventura "fifteen or sixteen years ago."²⁴ (DAR 879). He had rarely seen Ventura since 1981 or 1982 and did not associate with him. (DAR 879). Further, Mr. Zotas testified on cross that although he had earlier considered Ventura to be a law abiding citizen, he had heard "off and on that he got in a little bit of trouble here and there " (DAR 879). This outdated testimony of a single job Ventura held at some much earlier point in his life constitutes hardly а reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence of "a good employment history." Neither does the reputation testimony established on cross support a finding that Ventura had "positive character traits." Thus, the trial judge was free to conclude, as he did, that the evidence was insufficient to establish such a mitigator.

On appeal, Ventura next asserts that the trial judge should have found that he "was a model prisoner." (IB 92). Apparently, he thinks that the judge should have reached this conclusion based on the testimony of a minister, Mr. Gainly. Mr. Gainly had been involved with this prison ministry for "the past two years," although he had been visiting the prison, and knew Ventura for 14 or 15 months. (DAR 861-63). In that capacity, he worked with

 $^{^{\}rm 24}{\rm He}$ later indicated it might have been 10, 11 or 12 years. (DAR 880).

Ventura "once or twice a month."²⁵ (DAR 863). On cross, it was established that the time spent with Ventura was in a group setting. (DAR 868).

The State asserts that this testimony does not provide a reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence that Ventura was "a model prisoner." Further, as the judge was well aware, Ventura jumped bail in this case, used an alias, committed crimes under that name, and was a fugitive from justice for several years immediately preceding his rearrest and present incarceration. Thus, no error has been established in the trial court's rejection of this alleged "model prisoner" mitigation.

Finally, Ventura claims that the trial judge should have found in mitigation that "he developed and evidenced strong spiritual and religious standards." (IB 92). It is true that Mr. Gainly testified that he believed that Ventura had accepted Jesus as his Savior during the preceding few months and that he thought Ventura was "worth saving" because he had expressed his desire to help others find their way to the Savior.

On cross, Mr. Gainly admitted that during the brief time that he had been going to the prison and counseling with inmates, at least two of those who had professed religious beliefs had not followed them when released. (DAR 869). More importantly, as Rev. Hershey, Brother Frank M., and Sister Garay testified below, if

 $^{^{25}}$ He later claimed that he met with Ventura once or twice a week. (DAR 868).

Ventura committed the murder he was convicted of, he was not evidencing strong spiritual and religious standards. (See R 361, 391, 422). Thus, there is no reasonable quantum of competent, uncontroverted evidence establishing the alleged mitigator, and there is no error in the finding of no mitigating circumstances in this case. Moreover, since there were no established mitigators, counsel can hardly have been ineffective for not arguing that the trial court "was required to find" some.

POINT VII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ERROR IN REGARD TO HIS CLAIM OF ALLEGED "BURDEN SHIFTING."

Ventura complains that the jury instructions improperly stated that the mitigation had to outweigh the aggravation in order to recommend a life sentence. This issue is procedurally barred because trial counsel did not object to the jury instructions on this basis. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Further, it is also procedurally barred because the issue could, and should, have been raised on direct appeal, but was not. *Young v. State*, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999); *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 n.6 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, even if not procedurally barred, the claim is without merit. *Shellito v. State*, 701 So. 2d 837, 842-43 (Fla. 1997). Trial counsel can hardly be deemed to have rendered ineffective assistance in failing to object to the standard instruction specifically approved by this Court in Shellito. See Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 518 (Fla. 1999).

Finally, any error in the phrasing of the jury instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There can be no harmful error where, as here, there were no mitigating circumstances to weigh. It is also harmless because even had all four of the nonstatutory mitigators Ventura claims the trial judge should have found (Point VI) been established and weighed, there is no reasonable possibility, much less probability, that the resulting sentence would have been different.²⁶ The two strong aggravators far outweigh the alleged nonstatutory mitigation. Thus, again, there can be no ineffective counsel in regard to this issue.

POINT VIII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH ESPINOSA ERROR.

Ventura claims that the trial court improperly instructed on the aggravating circumstances. (IB 96). This claim is procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal. *Ventura v. State*, 560 So. 2d 217, 221 (Fla. 1990). Therein, this Court found a procedural bar because the issue was "never presented to the trial court." *Id.* Ventura claims that *Espinosa* should be retroactively applied to his case, or, in the alternative, trial counsel should

²⁶The jury vote was 11 to 1. *Ventura*, 560 So. 2d at 218. The judge found two weighty aggravators - committed for pecuniary gain and cold, calculated and premeditated murder. *Id.* at 218-19.

be declared ineffective for the failure "to properly preserve the issue for appellate review. (IB 97).

This Court has considered, and decided, this issue contrary to Ventura's position in *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506 (Fla. 1999).

Accordingly, Downs argues that his sentence should be reversed because the judge and jury considered vague and invalid aggravating factors in violation of *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992) (finding reversible error where either judge or jury considered invalid aggravating factor in determining sentence of death). We find this claim to be procedurally barred.

[14] Espinosa was not decided until after Downs' direct appeal. Thus, to take advantage of its ruling in a postconviction proceeding, Downs must establish: (1) that trial counsel preserved the issue for appellate review by jury instructions objecting to the on vaqueness grounds or by submitting an alternative instruction and (2) that appellate counsel raised the issue on appeal. See State v. Breedlove, 655 So.2d 74, 76 (Fla. 1995); Lambrix v. Singletary, 641 So. 2d 847, 848 (Fla. 1994); James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993). Because defense counsel did not object to these instructions during trial (FN16) or propose alternative instructions and did not challenge these claims on appeal, any challenges to the jury instructions themselves are procedurally barred from being raised for the first time in this postconviction proceeding. See Harvey, 656 So. 2d at 1258 (rejecting on procedural grounds claims alleging Espinosa error, including unconstitutionally vague penaltyphase jury instructions).

[15] However, within this claim, Downs also argues counsel rendered ineffective assistance by not objecting to the various jury instructions. the time of At Downs' resentencing, the trial used the court

standard jury instructions, which had been approved by this Court. See Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 309 (Fla. 1990) (affirming instruction on cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor), abrogated by Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380, 385 (Fla. 1983) (upholding validity of aggravating and mitigating statute challenged on vagueness grounds). Thus, trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective under the standards set forth in Strickland for not objecting to the constitutional validity of these instructions. See Harvey, 656 So. 2d at 1258 (holding that counsel may not be deemed ineffective under Strickland for failing to object to jury instructions where this Court previously upheld validity of those instructions); Mendvk, 592 So. 2d at 1080 ("When jury instructions are proper, the failure to object does not constitute a serious and substantial deficiency that measurably below the is standard of competent counsel."). Accordingly, we find no error in the trial court's summary denial of these claims.

(footnote omitted) 740 So. 2d. at 517-18. For these same reasons, Ventura is entitled to no relief.

POINT IX

APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ENTITLEMENT TO REIEF ON CUMULATIVE ERROR GROUNDS.

Ventura claims that relief can be had on "cumulative error." He claims this Court established that basis for relief in *Jones v. State*, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990).

In *Jones*, this Court found numerous penalty phase errors, and after explicating four of them, ruled that a new penalty phase was in order. This Court said:

In summary, we have found that the trial court erred by instructing the jury that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; by admitting testimony in Booth; by preventing the violation of jury from considering the potential sentence of imprisonment; and by permitting the state to introduce evidence of lack of remorse. We conclude that these penalty phase errors require a new sentencing hearing before a new sentencing jury. Accordingly, we find it unnecessary to reach Jones's ninth claim, that the trial court improperly denied defense counsel's request to withdraw during the penalty phase due to a conflict of interest.

569 So. 2d at 1240. Thus, the holding was not, as Ventura characterizes it, a cumulative error holding. Rather, this Court indicated that it needed go no further into the penalty phase errors because reversible error had already been established.

In Bedford v. State, 589 So. 2d 245, 252 (Fla. 1991), this Court rejected a claim of "fundamental cumulative error" which "resulted due to a number of alleged errors" which had not been objected to at trial. Since none of the errors "either individually or in combination resulted in fundamental error," the cumulative error claim was procedurally barred. *Id.* Ventura has not even alleged fundamental error. His cumulative error claim was not raised below, and neither were the alleged errors preserved below. Thus, assuming *arguendo* that a cumulative error claim is appropriate in a 3.850 proceeding, the instant one is procedurally barred. *Id.* Ventura is entitled to no relief.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, Ventura's conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed in all aspects.